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PETITION OF 
THE OFFICE OF PEOPLE’S COUNSEL 

FOR AN INVESTIGATION INTO 
THE COPPER RETIREMENT NOTICES  
SENT BY VERIZON, MARYLAND LLC 

MARYLAND RETAIL CUSTOMERS  
AND REQUEST FOR IMMEDIATE SUSPENSION  

OF THOSE NOTICES PENDING THE INVESTIGATION 
 

 
 
 
 

The Maryland Office of People’s Counsel  (OPC), by its undersigned attorneys, hereby 

requests, pursuant to Maryland Code Ann., Public Utilities Article (PUA) §2-204(a), that the 

Maryland Public Service Commission (“PSC” or the “Commission”) open an investigation into 

the untimely and contradictory notices that Verizon Maryland, LLC ("Verizon" or “the 

Company”) is sending to thousands of its Maryland retail customers advising them of the 

imminent and “mandatory” replacement of their legacy copper telephone voice service with 

fiber.1  Further, given the time sensitivity of some of the notices, which contain a December 14, 

2016 effective date, OPC further requests that the Commission direct Verizon to suspend any 

further issuance of such notices and their effective dates until such an investigation is complete.2 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The Office of People’s Counsel has been informed that Maryland retail customers of 

Verizon recently have received notice of imminent and “mandatory” replacement of their legacy 

copper telephone voice service, and retirement of the copper telephone voice service. According 

                                                 
1 The notices are attached hereto as Exhibits 1, 2 and 3. 
2 The FCC has not yet issued its Public Notice of Verizon’s copper retirement, as required under 47 
C.F.R. § 51.332(f). The FCC, has, however, opened a docket for the Maryland Verizon matter, WC-16-
351. OPC is concurrently filing its opposition with the FCC.  Not all of the matters in this petition, 
however, can or should be resolved by the FCC. 
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to Verizon’s Public Notice of Copper Retirement filed with the Federal Communications 

Commission (FCC) on September 15, 2016 (“Verizon’s Notice to the FCC”), the copper 

retirement letters are being sent to thousands of households in wire center areas of Bethesda, 

Columbia, Glen Burnie, Rockville and Towson, Maryland.3  

These letters fail to comply with FCC directives. After a lengthy rule-making process that 

balanced the interests of companies, consumers, businesses and other stakeholders, the FCC 

issued several new rules – the Copper Transition Order, 911 Continuity Order, and the Voice 

Replacement Order -- to guide the nation’s transition to fiber.4   These rules make clear that, 

although the FCC supports and authorizes a transition to a fiber telecommunications network, it 

requires that transition to be smooth, with adequate and clear notice to retail consumers.5   

Verizon’s retirement notices in Maryland do not fully comport with those rules.  

Moreover, these rules do not fully preempt state law.  States continue to have a role in 

overseeing Verizon’s handling of its copper retirement,6  including supporting consumer 

                                                 
3Public Notice of Copper Retirement Under Rule 51.332, Copper Retirement ID No. 2016-03-1A-MD 
filed with the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) on September 15, 2016, available at 
https://ecfsapi.fcc.gov/file/10915042324588/9-15-16%20MD%20Copper%20Ret%20filing%202016-03-
A-MD.pdf. Addresses of individual customers are listed in Exhibit A of Verizon's Notice. Verizon’s filing 
indicates that this document was also filed with the Maryland PSC. In a review of e-filings on the PSC 
website on October 25, 2016, OPC counsel did not locate any such e-filing, and was not provided any 
courtesy service of such a filing. The Notice to the FCC (without the voluminous list of addresses) is 
attached here as Exhibit 4. 
4 In the Matter of Technology Transitions Policies and Rules Governing Retirement Of Copper Loops by 
Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers, Special Access for Price Cap Local Exchange Carriers AT&T 
Corporation, Petition for Rulemaking to Reform Regulation of Incumbent Local Exchange Carrier Rates 
for Interstate Special Access Services, GN Docket No. 13-5; RM-11358; WC Docket No. 05-25; and 
RM-10593, Tech Order (Rel. August 7, 2015) (“Copper Transition Order”); In the Matter of Ensuring 
Continuity of 911 Communications, PS Docket 14-174, FCC-15-98; (Rel. August 7, 2015) (“911 
Continuity Order”); Declaratory Ruling, Second Report and Order, and Order on Reconsideration, FCC 
No. 16-90, (Rel. July 15, 2016) (“Voice Replacement Order”).  
5 Copper Transition Order at, e.g. ¶¶ 12, 39 43, 50; 911 Continuity Order at, e.g. ¶¶ 49, 56; Voice 
Replacement Order at, e.g. ¶¶ 28,58, 69.  
6 Copper Transition Order, at, e.g. ¶ 96, FN 347(“citing 29 FCC Rcd at 14994, para. 54; Triennial Review 
Order, 18 FCC Rcd at 17148, para. 284 (“[W]e stress that we are not preempting the ability of any state 
commission to evaluate an incumbent LEC's retirement of its copper loops to ensure such retirement 
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education,7 overseeing its marketing practices, and assessing whether that retirement is, in fact, a 

Section 214(a) discontinuance.8 The Commission has recognized that very fact, and even 

predicted that its intervention might become necessary to protect Maryland consumers during 

Verizon’s eventual copper retirement.  In 2010, this Commission stated that “To the extent [that] 

Maryland … customers might not, at some point, be adequately protected by the FCC’s rules, 

Verizon concedes that we may adopt copper retirement regulations of our own that are consistent 

with federal law.”9  The FCC has continued to recognize that State role in its copper retirement 

orders.   

 

II. SUMMARY 
 

Based on its review of the copper retirement notices sent by Verizon to its customers, OPC 

has four primary objections to Verizon Maryland’s current handling of its copper retirement 

plan:  

                                                                                                                                                             
complies with any applicable state legal or regulatory requirements.”) See 18 FCC Rcd 16978 (2003) 
(Triennial Review Order), corrected by Triennial Review Order Errata, 18 FCC Rcd 19020, aff’d in part, 
remanded in part, vacated in part, United States Telecom Ass’n v. FCC, 359 F.3d 554, 564-93 (D.C. Cir. 
2004) (USTA II), cert. denied, 543 U.S. 925 (2004), on remand, Unbundled Access to Network Elements 
et al., WC Docket No. 04-313 et al., Order on Remand, 20 FCC Rcd 2533, 2541, para. 12 (2004), aff’d, 
Covad Commc’ns Co. 
7 Copper Transition Order at ¶ 64 (“[W]e emphasize and support the role of state commissions and Tribal 
governments to support consumer education around copper retirement.”) 
8 Voice Replacement Order at ¶ 52 (“[T]he Commission’s Section 214 authority applies only to interstate 
telecommunications services; wholly intrastate services such as local telephone service are excluded from 
its reach;” “[S]tates will remain free to regulate intrastate services to the extent they are now.”); Triennial 
Review Order at ¶ 284 (“We understand that many states have their own requirements related to 
discontinuance of service, and our rules do not override these requirements.”)  
9 Case Nos. 9072, 9114, 9120, 9121, 9123, 9133, Order No. 83137 at p. 60, In The Matter of the Request 
of Verizon Maryland Inc. to Reclassify Certain Retail Bundled Services to the Competitive Services 
Basket As Provided By the Commission’s Price Cap Plan, In the Matter of Commission’s Inquiry into 
Verizon Maryland Inc.’s Provision of Local Exchange Telephone Service Over Fiber Optic Facilities et 
al; In Re Verizon Maryland Inc., 279 P.U.R.4th 504 (February 2, 2010) Mail Log 121510.  
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1) Verizon’s December 2016 letters to customers are premature.  Verizon is sending 

letters to the homes of retail customers in Maryland that assert a copper retirement date of 

December 14, 2016 (“the December 2016 Letters”)10, which  a)  violate the timing and 

implementation provisions in 47 C.F.R. Section § 51.332; b) contradict the September 

2017 copper retirement date Verizon filed in its Notice to the FCC; and c) contradict 

letters Verizon is sending to other households11 and even to the very same household that 

also assert the September, 2017 date.12 Such retail notices, discussed below, should be 

immediately suspended.   

2) All Verizon’s retail notices are misleading. Regardless of implementation date, the 

substance of the letters Verizon is mailing Maryland’s retail customers is at best 

confusing, and at worst, misleading. They are non-compliant with 47 C.F.R. Section § 

51.332(c)(2) in that they:   

a) incorrectly assert that fiber voice is the “the same” as copper voice;13  

b) provide misleading and contradictory information on the need for back-up power to 

provide telephone, alarm, medical and/or emergency service in the event of power 

outages;  

c) do not disclose that customers must buy replacement back-up batteries at their own 

cost; and  

                                                 
10 See Exhibits 1A, B and C, letters to Maryland residents in Baltimore County, Montgomery County, and 
Anne Arundel County, dated September 29, 2016 or October 13, 2016, proclaiming a December 14, 2016 
copper retirement date. 
11 Exhibit 3, letter to a Maryland resident in Montgomery County, dated September 15, 2016, proclaiming 
a September 2017 retirement date.   
12 Exhibits 2A, B and C, letters proclaiming a September 2017 copper retirement date, sent to the same 
customers who received the letters in Exhibit 1. 
13 This statement is misleading because, at a minimum, customers will eventually have to purchase their 
own back-up battery supplies after the first one wears out, take steps to make sure their home security, fax 
and/or medical devices are compatible with fiber service, and lose or change their Internet service if they 
had a DSL line. 
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d) do not indicate that Verizon’s FiOS digital voice offering, which is provided over 

fiber, is unregulated and not the same as Verizon’s fiber voice offering, which is 

regulated.  

3) Verizon’s copper retirement may be a Section 214(a) discontinuance. The FCC has 

stated that neglect of the copper service network could constitute a discontinuance under  

47 U.S.C. §214(a), which governs discontinuance, reduction or impairment of a regulated 

service to the community and requires much more robust FCC deliberation and 

certification, not mere “notice.” There are Petitions before the Maryland Public Service 

Commission alleging that Verizon Maryland’s failure to maintain its copper network 

constitutes a de facto retirement.14  OPC’s independent review of consumer complaints 

lends merit to these allegations. At a minimum, and in addition to the corrective action 

that should be taken regarding the deficient notices, this Commission should allow 

sufficient time to investigate and make determinations regarding these allegations before 

Verizon is allowed to retire its copper network. 

4) Verizon is creating an emergency where there is none. Verizon’s fiber upgrade 

website states the copper migration is “mandatory.” Consumers have told OPC that 

Verizon representatives have made similar claims.  These claims are incorrect. The FCC 

is permitting the Company to pursue its preferred business strategy, as long as it complies 

with federal and state law. This misstatement also contributes to an atmosphere of 

coercion and emergency that may force customers – especially vulnerable ones, like 

                                                 
14 See Communications Workers of America, AFL-CIO – Request for Investigation into Verizon 
Maryland Service Performance and Service Quality Standards, Maryland Public Service Commission 
Case No. 9133 and 9114 (Mail Log No. 174213) September 2, 2015; Communications Workers of 
America, AFL-CIO – Request for Investigation into Verizon Maryland Service Performance and Service 
Quality Standards. Case Nos. 9133 and 9114, Mail Log No. 177812), November 16, 2015. 
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senior citizens - to purchase products they do not need or otherwise fail to explore their 

options or exercise their legal rights. 

 For the reasons stated below, OPC hereby requests the Commission to: 

• open an investigation into all of Verizon’s copper retirement notices; 

• immediately suspend Verizon’s December 2016 notices pending further investigation 

and review;  

• order that, going forward, Verizon amend all of its notices and informational 

materials distributed in Maryland to be consistent with, at a bare minimum, 47 

C.F.R. Section § 51.332(c)(2);  

• determine what additional notice requirements, if any, should be imposed to protect 

and educate Maryland customers who are suddenly facing this poorly executed 

retirement of a 100-year old legacy service; and 

• prior to any copper retirement, investigate the pending allegations that Verizon’s 

failure to maintain its copper network constitutes a  de facto retirement, requiring 

further deliberations by the FCC. 

III. BACKGROUND 
 

OPC is an independent government agency with a statutory duty to represent the concerns of 

Maryland’s ratepayers and public utility consumers.15 Verizon Maryland is the predominant 

regulated telephone company, the incumbent local exchange carrier (ILEC).  Verizon Maryland 

provides basic local service through copper, and in some areas fiber, lines. Over the years, 

Verizon’s deployment of its fiber network in Maryland has been neither smooth nor transparent. 

For example, during the early days of Verizon’s FiOS deployment from about 2007 to about 

                                                 
15 Maryland Code Ann., Public Utilities Article (PUA) §2-204. 
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2010, the Commission investigated Verizon’s customer service quality and repair practices,16 as 

well as Verizon’s misleading marketing of its fiber and FiOS services.17 Among other findings, 

the Commission found persistent and unacceptable service and repair practices to Verizon’s 

copper customers during Verizon’s FiOS roll-out.18  

Verizon has a long-standing statutory duty to provide regulated voice service to Maryland 

residents. The General Assembly has not taken action to change that.19 In 2015, the Maryland 

General Assembly declined to act on proposed legislation (Senate Bill 577) to amend Md. Code 

Ann, Public Utilities Article (PUA) §5-103 to allow a phone company to discontinue voice 

service with 14 days notice to the Maryland Public Service Commission and 30 days notice to a 

customer.20 The proposed law also tried add a new section, PUA § 8-502, to allow a phone 

company to use the technology of its choice to provide voice services. The bill died after a first 

reading in the Finance Committee of the Maryland Senate.  

Instead, the Maryland legislature passed a different law that, in part, asked the Maryland 

Commission to study whether telephone providers may retire regulated voice service at this time, 

                                                 
16 See, generally, the docket under Case No. 9133, In The Matter Of Appropriate 
Forms Of Regulating Telephone Companies, as initiated by the Maryland Public Service Commission in 
Order 81766 (January 3, 2008). 
17 See, generally, the docket under Case No. 9123, In the Matter of Commission’s Inquiry into Verizon 
Maryland Inc.’s Provision of Local Exchange Telephone Service Over Fiber Optic Facilities as initiated 
by Office of People's Counsel’s Request for an Investigation (Mail Log 107092), August 9, 2007. 
18 See Order 83137, Case Nos. 9072 et al, at p.6 (“We found … that Verizon's delays in restoring 
residential service derived from business decisions to allocate resources to goals other than residential 
service restoration, such as restoring service to business customers, building its FiOS-branded fiber 
network or enhancing profitability through job reductions. We found as well that Verizon had met its 
“missed appointments” requirements since our investigation started only by stretching standard 
appointment times far beyond anything remotely compliant with the eight-hour rule. Neither the pending 
case nor steps Verizon promised to take has made much difference. And in trends that continued through 
the April 6 Order and continue to this day, Verizon's residential service restoration time has not improved, 
and its standard appointment times remain unacceptably long.”). 
19 See Md. Code Ann, Public Utilities Article (PUA) §§4-301, 5-103. 
20 Available at http://mgaleg.maryland.gov/2015RS/bills/sb/sb0577f.pdf. 
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including retirement of copper voice service.21 In its ensuing report, Retail Service Withdrawals 

within the Telecommunications Industry, issued in December 2015, Commission Staff ultimately 

concluded that carriers cannot withdraw basic local service and 911 services at this time and that 

Verizon must provide basic local service to all customers who request it.22  The report reviewed, 

among other things, the FCC Copper Loop Order and the FCC’s 911 Continuity Order and 

emphasized that the FCC requires “functionally equivalent” service in the copper to fiber 

transition.23 The report also reviewed telephone regulation in other states, and declined to take 

the path of deregulation. The report noted that significant portions of Maryland—such as the 

Eastern Shore, Prince George’s County, Baltimore City and Western Maryland-- have copper-

only service. 

While the FCC may or may not take action to protect Maryland consumers against Verizon’s 

actions, there is no doubt that this Commission can – and should – do so.  As stated above, the 

FCC Copper Loop Order does not pre-empt state law.24  The problems with Verizon’s service to 

Maryland customers, unfortunately, appear to be continuing. In just the past two years, the 

Maryland Public Service Commission has received hundreds of complaints from Maryland 

consumers about Verizon’s (mis)handling of its copper voice maintenance and repair obligations, 

and its aggressive and often misleading upselling of its fiber-based voice, Internet and TV 

                                                 
21 House Bill 472/Senate Bill 207 “Telephone Companies – Streamlined Regulatory Requirements,”  
(signed into law on May 12, 2015) at Section 5, available at 
http://mgaleg.maryland.gov/2015RS/Chapters_noln/CH_250_hb0472t.pdf. 
22 Retail Service Withdrawals within the Telecommunications Industry, 12/1/15, Staff of the Maryland 
Public Service Commission., available at http://www.psc.state.md.us/wp-content/uploads/PC-39-Report-
and-Letter.pdf, at 3. The Commission submitted the report to the General Assembly, but has not taken a 
position on the recommendations of its Staff. 
23 Id. at p. 9, 11, 15. 
24 See FNs 6, 7, 8, above 
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services.25   The Communications Workers of America has twice asked the Commission to 

investigate Verizon’s current practices in Maryland related to its copper and fiber services.26 

In the past few weeks, OPC has fielded numerous inquiries from Maryland consumers who 

have received copper retirement notices and telephone calls from Verizon.  OPC has learned that 

this Commission,27 the Attorney General’s Office of Maryland and local government agencies 

such as the Howard County Office of Cable Administration, Montgomery County Office of 

Consumer Protection, and Montgomery County Office of Cable and Broadband Services have 

also received consumer complaints about Verizon’s notices.   

The FCC rules provide a minimal roadmap to a transition to fiber network, and urged carriers 

to partner with state public service commissions and other agencies to help consumers 

understand and adjust to the technology changes.28  Verizon, inexplicably, chose a different path, 

making the rollout much more difficult and confusing than it needs to be.  OPC is not asking the 

Commission to reject or stop copper retirement in areas where there is a fiber network in  

Maryland, but rather to help make sure the transition is smooth, transparent and comports with 

applicable laws. 

  

                                                 
25 This statement is based upon a review of documents obtained by OPC from the Commission’s Office of 
External Relations via requests under the Maryland Public Information Act in 2014, 2015 and 2016.  The 
Commission may take judicial notice of its own customer complaint records.  
26 See above, FN 14.  
27 The Maryland Public Service Commission responded to a complaint filed by a Maryland resident, 
MPSC 916324131-W.  The resident had received a letter announcing a September 2017 implementation 
date for Verizon’s copper retirement. (See Exhibit 3). The Commission’s response reiterated that, 
according to the FCC’s new rules, Verizon must provide 90 day notice before it can retire a customer’s 
copper.  It did not address the content of the notice or its own potential role in the fiber transition. See 
Exhibit 5, Maryland PSC Response to Consumer Complaint dated 106/2016. 
28 Copper Transition Order at ¶ 65. 
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IV. SOME OF VERIZON’S NOTICES TO CONSUMERS ARE UNTIMELY; ALL ARE 
MISLEADING 
 

Although Verizon Maryland filed its Notice to the FCC pursuant to 47 C.F.R. §51.332, 

which governs copper retirement, the letters it is sending to Maryland consumers violate that 

rule. 

A. Verizon’s Planned Copper Retirement Date of December 2016 Is Premature.   

Verizon told the FCC, in its formal Notice on September 15, 2016, that it has planned to 

implement its copper retirement as of September, 2017, one year later.29  Yet some of the letters 

that Verizon is sending customers in Maryland contradict that filing.  While one set of letters, 

dated September 15, 2016, announce an implementation date of September 2017 (“the 2017 

letters”),30 another set does not. Apparently, Verizon is also subsequently sending additional 

letters to some Maryland customers – in the very same households -- that announce that the 

customers’ copper voice service will be terminated on or after December 14, 2016 (“the 

December 2016 letters).31  Verizon cannot be allowed to issue confusing and contradictory 

notices.  Nor can Verizon be permitted to implement a copper retirement date that violates the 

requirements of the FCC.  

The December 2016 letters violate the timing and implementation provisions of 47 C.F.R. 

Section § 51.332, which provides for 90 day notice to retail customers before the implementation 

date of copper retirement.   Verizon has miscalculated when it may begin implementing its 

copper retirement plans. Under the plain terms of the regulation, the triggering event for Verizon 

                                                 
29 See Ex. 4 (Verizon’s Notice to FCC). 
30 See Exhibit 3, letter to a Maryland resident in Montgomery County, titled Notice of Copper Retirement, 
proclaiming a September 2017 retirement date. 
31 See Exhibit 1, letters to Maryland residents, dated September 29, 2016 and October 13, 2016, 
proclaiming a December 14, 2016 copper retirement date; and Exhibit 2, letters to the same Maryland 
residents, proclaiming a copper retirement date of December 14, 2016.    
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to retire copper on a wholesale, community basis (as opposed to an individual basis) is the FCC’s 

formal issuance of its own public notice32 – NOT the date Verizon mails letters to customers.    

The key to understanding the regulation is subsection (f) of 47 C.F.R. Section § 51.332.  That 

subsection provides for automatic approval of a carrier’s copper retirement, without FCC 

intervention, six months after the FCC issues its public notice. That provision states: 

Implementation date. The Commission will release a public notice of filings of 
the notice of copper retirement pursuant to paragraph (b)(1) of this section. The 
public notice will set forth the docket number and NCD number assigned by the 
Commission to the incumbent LEC's notice. The notices of copper retirement 
required by paragraph (b) of this section shall be deemed approved on the 180th 
day after the release of the Commission's public notice of the filing. 
 

In other words, Verizon’s retail customer notices of copper retirement (as required by 

paragraph (b)(3)) are not “deemed approved” until six months AFTER the FCC  has issued its 

formal public notice of filing.33  Because the Copper Transition Order provides for automatic 

approval, “notice” is synonymous with “implementation” as long as the requisite time has 

elapsed. Because the FCC has not yet issued its public notice of filing, the clock has not even 

started ticking to calculate when Verizon may begin to implement its copper retirement program.  

As stated in the Copper Transition Order “After the Commission receives notice of the 

retirement, it will issue a public notice of the retirement, starting the 180-day ‘countdown’ such 

that the copper retirement may go forward under our rules.”34  The countdown has not even 

begun and thus Verizon’s copper retirement may not go forward in December 2016. 

                                                 
32 See 47 C.F.R. § 51.332(f).  
33 The six month time period is meant to protect competing interconnecting carriers and their customers 
who use the incumbent telephone company’s copper loops to provide service. See Copper Transition 
Order at ¶¶ 9, 28, 29.  Retail customers, on the other hand, receive 90-day notice. Copper Transition 
Order at ¶ 62 (stating that 90 days notice to customers is appropriate). 
34 Copper Transition Order at ¶ 29 
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The countdown from the FCC’s public notice also applies to notice to customers. Section § 

51.332(e)(4), which provides 90 days of notice to retail customers after the release of the FCC’s 

public notice, states that:  

An incumbent LEC must provide any notice required by paragraph (b)(3) of this 
section to all residential customers to whom notice must be provided no later than 
ninety (90) days after the Commission's release of the public notice identified 
in paragraph (f) of this section.35 
 

Thus, Verizon must send its notice to retail customers no later than three months after the 

FCC releases its notice, and thus, by logical extension, no later than three months before the six-

month implementation/approval date in paragraph (f).  In other words, the 90 day notice period 

required in this regulation counts backward from the six-month automatic 

approval/implementation date. Nothing in Section § 51.332 states that Verizon may start 

counting the 90 day notice/implementation requirement forward, beginning when it, the 

Company, mailed its first letters to customers, as its actions in Maryland suggest.36  While 

Verizon is arguably free to notify consumers well in advance of three months before it is 

permitted to implement its copper retirement, it is not permitted to suspend a community’s 

copper service until six months after FCC issues its formal public notice.37  

Besides the violation of federal law, it is confusing to Maryland consumers, regulatory 

agencies and public officials to have at least two different implementation dates.  No one is sure 

what the real date is.  Customers are unsure if they should act.  The December 2016 letters also 

contain a “Medical Emergency Notice” at the bottom, which informs customers it will grant a 

30-day extension IF the customer can provide a doctor’s note asserting that “termination of the 
                                                 
35 47 C.F.R. § 51.332(e)(4). 
36 It should also be noted that there is not, by any count, 90 days between a letter dated September 29, 
2016 or October 13, 2016 and an implementation date of December 14, 2016.  
37 47 C.F.R. § 51.332(b)(3)  provides an exception on copper retirement an individual basis, to resolve a 
customer repair, or if the customer consents to the replacement with fiber or other service. 
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service will aggravate the medical emergency” AND the customer accepts fiber-optic service 

from Verizon.38   This provision does not allow a consumer the choice to switch to another 

provider and instead appears to coerce the medically vulnerable.  Even the FCC has recognized 

that the copper transition will most likely provide the most confusion and hardship for medically 

vulnerable, often elderly citizens, who rely on copper voice services for medical and emergency 

reliability.39 

Consumer confusion and mistrust, already present in the years leading up to Verizon’s fiber 

deployment, is growing exponentially in certain areas of Maryland.   Threatening a premature 

copper retirement just a few weeks before many peoples’ holiday season begins only makes 

matters worse. 

For each of these reasons, the Maryland Public Service Commission should order an 

immediate suspension of all of Verizon’s December 2016 notices until these issues are 

addressed. 

B. Verizon’s Notices to Retail Customers Are Misleading   

Regardless of implementation date, Verizon’s notices to Maryland retail customers contain 

statements that violate the content requirement of the federal rules. The copper retirement 

regulation in § 51.332 provides that any notice to retail customers “must provide sufficient 

information to enable the retail customer to make an informed decision as to whether to continue 

subscribing to the service to be affected by the planned network changes.”40 Verizon’s notices do 

not fully comply with this directive. 

                                                 
38 Id. 
39 Copper Transition Order at ¶3, 9. 
40 47 C.F.R. § 51.332(c)(2)(i). 
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1. Fiber voice is not the “same” as copper voice.   

Verizon’s December 16 notices state that the upgrade will “provide access to the same voice 

service as you enjoy today.” The face of the notice itself provides no other qualifying 

information, such as the need for battery back up or the fact that a customer’s DSL line will not 

work over fiber. While this information is addressed in the Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) 

insert, attached to the December 2016 notice, it is not contained in the body of the letter, as it is 

in the September 2017 Notices, albeit incorrectly.   

The FAQs state in paragraph 5 that “Your existing voice service will not change, aside from 

the added benefit of being delivered over our better quality fiber-optic facilities.”41 While the 

next sentence informs customers that High Speed Internet may not work over fiber, that same 

paragraph does not mention the critical fact that fiber wireline telephone service does not work if 

there is a power outage.42 Instead, that key information is suggested  in the next paragraph, 

number 6, which states that “We will provide you with a backup battery device at no charge that 

will power your voice in the event of a power outage, allowing you to make and receive calls, 

including to 911, on your corded telephone.”43  

Information contained in different documents or even in different paragraphs does not meet 

the “clear and conspicuous” requirement of the FCC’s new copper retirement rules, which 

provides in part that a notice to retail customers must be in a “location that it is readily 

noticeable,” and “may not contradict or be inconsistent with any other information with which it 

                                                 
41 Nor does that paragraph mention that Verizon’s “distinctive voice” feature may not work over fiber, a 
fact about which at least one Maryland resident has received conflicting information from Verizon’s sales 
and technical staff.   
42 See 911 Continuity Order at ¶62 (noting that consumers who lose legacy copper service should be 
informed that voice service will be unavailable during a power outage without backup power, and that 
this backup power will not also power services other than voice). 
43 See, e.g. FAQs attached to letters in Exhibits 1-3. 
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is presented.”44  The incomplete information also violates the requirement that if “a statement 

materially modifies, explains or clarifies other information with which it is presented, then the 

statement must be presented in proximity to the information it modifies.”45  

The misleading information on copper and fiber being the “same” in the December 2016 

Notice and in the FAQs also violates 47 C.F.R. Section 51.332(c)(2)(i)(B), which provides that a 

notice to retail customers must contain: 

 A statement that the retail customer will still be able to purchase the existing 
service(s) to which he or she subscribes with the same functionalities and features 
as the service he or she currently purchases from the incumbent LEC, except that 
if this statement would be inaccurate, the incumbent LEC must include a 
statement identifying any changes to the service(s) and the functionality and 
features thereof. 

 
The FCC made clear that the phrase “any changes to the service(s) and the functionality 

and features thereof,” includes continuity of power.46 

 

2. Connecting devices do not all work in the same way. 

 
The September 2017 Notices assert that “any devices that rely on your voice service, such as 

fax machines, medical devices or security alarms connected to a central station will continue to 

work in the same way as they currently do over copper.”47  This statement is misleading because 

it does not clearly indicate that some of these services a) might be incompatible with fiber;  b)  

will require an independent power source in the event of a power outage; and c) will not even 

work with battery back up.  The statement in Verizon’s letter is contradicted by Verizon’s very 

                                                 
44 47 C.F.R. § 51.332(c)(2)(iv). 
45 47 C.F.R. § 51.332(c)(2)(iv)(B)(emphasis added).  
46 Copper Transition Order at ¶43. 
47 See Exhibit 3, September 2017 letter, 4th paragraph. 
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own FAQs insert, which states that “cordless phones, alarm equipment, or other devices that 

require electricity to operate will not be powered by the backup battery device.”   

 The confusing presentation of this information violates, at a minimum, 47 C.F.R. § 

51.332(c)(2)(iv), which provides that a notice to retail customers must be “clear and 

conspicuous,” and thus in a “location that it is readily noticeable,” and “may not contradict or be 

inconsistent with any other information with which it is presented.”  That section also states that 

if “a statement materially modifies, explains or clarifies other information with which it is 

presented, then the statement must be presented in proximity to the information it modifies.”48 

3. Battery back up costs are not fully disclosed 

Verizon’s Notices (both the December 2016 and the September 2017) state that the upgrade 

will occur at no cost to the customer. While the Company provides customers with a back up 

battery at no charge, its FAQs also reveal that “in a prolonged power outage, you can simply 

replace the D-cell batteries for additional back up power.”  In other words, customers facing a 

prolonged power outage, as recently occurred in the wake of Hurricane Matthew, will have to 

have D-Cell batteries on hand, at their own cost.  Verizon’s statement of “no cost” is misleading. 

Furthermore, Verizon’s information on battery back up does not comply with the FCC’s 

detailed new rules in its 911 Continuity Order on the minimal information providers must 

disclose to subscribers about battery-back up availability, storage, maintenance and purchase 

options.49 

                                                 
48 C.F.R. § 51.332(c)(2)(iv)(B). 
49 See FCC 911 Continuity Order at ¶60 (Requiring providers of facilities-based, fixed residential voice 
services, which are not line powered, to disclose, among other things, the following information: service 
limitations with and without backup power during a power outage; purchase and replacement options; 
proper usage and storage conditions for the backup power source; subscriber backup power self testing 
and monitoring instructions; and backup power warranty details, if any. 
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4. Verizon’s Notices do not distinguish between regulated and unregulated 

voice 

Verizon’s letters, FAQs and its Fiber Upgrade website do not make a clear distinction 

between Verizon’s three wireline voice offerings:  copper voice, fiber voice and FiOS digital 

voice. Verizon’s regular (non-Fiber Upgrade) website only adds to the confusion by informing 

consumers that “Verizon offers two methods of delivering telephone service: through traditional 

copper wire and through FiOS® fiber optic technology.”50 

The distinction is important because the first two are regulated; digital voice is not.  The FCC 

noted that the record in the copper transition docket was “replete” with evidence that Verizon’s 

digital voice service, VoiceLink was inferior to legacy phone service.51 Indeed, the potential 

replacement of copper services with VoiceLink became a source of controversy and consumer 

angst after Hurricane Sandy hit the States of New York and New Jersey in October 2012, when 

Verizon announced its intention not to fix the utility customers’ copper-based services in certain 

areas after the storm, instead replacing those services with Voice Link.   

In addition, the FCC noted concerns that Verizon has migrated unsuspecting customers from 

regulated to unregulated services without adequate customer notice and consent.52 In fact, the 

FCC cited evidence in the record regarding the Verizon’s pressure on customers in Montgomery 

                                                 
50Available at 
https://www.verizon.com/support/residential/phone/homephone/general+support/fios+phone/questions+a
nd+answers/95508.htm (Accessed October 18, 2016)(emphasis added). 
51 Copper Transition Order ¶14 (discussing Verizon’s attempt to replace copper voice service with its 
VoiceLink wireless on Fire Island); Copper Transition Order at ¶220 (citing New York Public Service 
Commission Comments at 8 (“The NYPSC sought comments from interested parties and stakeholders on 
Voice Link technology, service plans, and delivery. The vast majority of the commenters objected to 
Voice Link as a network replacement. Commenters were critical of Voice Link’s inferior sound quality 
and limited functionality (i.e., lacking support for Fax, Internet access, and other traditional copper-based 
telephone functions, such as operator service and long-distance provider choice).”). 
52 Copper Transition Order at ¶39. 
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County, Maryland to switch services not just to fiber but to a package of digital services offered 

over the fiber network.53  

These concerns remain viable, especially in Maryland. It is no secret to the investment 

community and the FCC that the companies operating the landline services have wanted to 

abandon their copper-based services and promote their non-regulated products. Lowell McAdam, 

the Chairman and CEO of Verizon Communications, the parent of Verizon Maryland, has stated 

that his vision is “we are going into the copper plant areas, and every place we have FiOS54, we 

are going to kill the copper…that is a pot of gold.”55   

One obvious problem with this strategy is that Verizon still has a legal duty to provide and 

maintain copper services in the significant portion of Maryland where Verizon has not deployed 

its fiber network, namely: Baltimore City, Prince George’s County, Western Maryland and the 

Eastern Shore.  It is also no secret that the company would prefer to skip the fiber network 

altogether and ultimately deploy its wireless network in all-copper locales. As Mr. McAdam 

stated in June 2012:  “And then in other areas that are more rural and more sparsely populated, 

we have got LTE56 built that will handle …those services, and so we are going to cut the copper 

off there.”57   

                                                 
53 Copper Transition Order ¶53 (citing a local NBC news story by Liz Crenshaw and Patti Petitte, “Killing 
Copper? Customers Say They Felt Pressured Into FiOS” (Dec. 9, 2013) 
http://www.nbcwashington.com/news/local/Verizon-Fios- 
Phone-Copper-Customers-Say-They-Felt-Pressured-Into-Fios-235098041.html). 
54 FiOS is the trade name given to Verizon’s fiber-optic communications network to the premises, which 
can provide voice, video and data  services on a stand-alone basis or as a bundled service (the so-called 
“Triple Play”).   
55 June 21, 2012 Guggenheim Securities Symposium, Comments of Lowell McAdam.  See 
http://www.huffingtonpost.com/bruce-kushnick/want-to-know-what-verizon-and-att-really-tell-their-
investors_b_4640640.html. (McAdam Comments). 
56 LTE is an acronym for Long Term Evolution (e.g., 4G LTE), and is a standard for wireless 
communication of high-speed data. 
57 McAdam Comments. 

http://www.huffingtonpost.com/bruce-kushnick/want-to-know-what-verizon-and-att-really-tell-their-investors_b_4640640.html
http://www.huffingtonpost.com/bruce-kushnick/want-to-know-what-verizon-and-att-really-tell-their-investors_b_4640640.html
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The failure of Verizon’s notice and consumer information about the clear and important 

differences between copper voice, fiber voice, digital voice (and even wireless voice) perhaps 

portend more change to come in the future.  In the present, the omission violates both the spirit 

and letter of the FCC Copper Transition Order, which demands that customers be informed of 

what alternatives to copper phone service exist for customers in transition.58  

C. Verizon’s Copper Retirement May Be a Section 214(a) Discontinuance.  

Verizon’s copper notice activities in Maryland could also trigger Section 214(a) of the U.S. 

Code.  This statute governs discontinuance, reduction or impairment of a regulated service to the 

community and requires much more robust Commission deliberation and certification, not mere 

notice and automatic approval.59 The FCC distinguishes between its copper notice regulations 

and the discontinuance statute this way:  “copper retirement network change notification process 

and the discontinuance approval process remain fundamentally distinct because the former 

concerns changes in facilities and merely requires notice, while the latter concerns changes in 

services and requires Commission approval.”60 The FCC notes that a carrier’s actions in retiring 

copper might invoke a Section 214(a) discontinuance proceeding if, for example, it offers an 

inferior voice service such as Verizon’s VoiceLink wireless service,61 or neglects its copper 

network such that it amounts to a de facto retirement.62  The FCC stated that allowing copper 

deterioration is the “functional equivalent of removal or disabling it without first following the 

notice-based copper retirement process. In addition, we caution that this clarification is not a 

                                                 
58 Id at ¶43. 
59 47 U.S.C. §214(a). 
60Copper Transition Order at ¶ 92 (emphasis added). 
61 Copper Transition Order ¶¶14,66,182 (discussing Verizon’s provision of wireless VoiceLink in Fire 
Island, New York). 
62 Copper Transition Order at ¶ 93. 
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loophole and if we see evidence of abuse, we will reevaluate the issue and take action if 

appropriate.”63   

In Maryland, the Communications Workers of America has recently alleged that Verizon is 

intentionally neglecting its copper network in various communities in Maryland, and has asked 

the Maryland Public Service Commission to investigate.64  While the Maryland PSC has not yet 

ruled on these requests, ordering a suspension of at least Verizon’s December Notices will allow 

the Maryland PSC to look into such allegations should it see fit to do so.  The FCC Copper 

Transition order recognizes that state commissions retain an important enforcement role in this 

technology transition.65 

 
D. Verizon’s Fiber Migration Is Not “REQUIRED”  

 
Verizon’s notices direct consumers to its website, www.verizon/fiberupgrade, for more 

information.  The website states, among other things, that the copper to fiber migration is 

“required.” 66  This statement is incorrect. The FCC is permitting the Company to pursue its 

preferred business strategy, as long as it complies with federal and state law. At a bare minimum, 

as explained above, the 180-day time period for the FCC’s automatic approval has not even 

begun.67  Also, as discussed above, there is some evidence in Maryland that Verizon is engaging 

in de facto retirement of its copper Transitions, which would invite more scrutiny from both the 

Maryland Public Service Commission and the FCC. 

                                                 
63 Id. 
64 See FN 14.  
65 Copper Transition Order at ¶63. 
66 www.verizon/fiberupgrade, page 2, accessed October 5, 2016. 
67 47 C.F.R. Section § 51.332(f) a notice of copper retirement “shall be deemed approved on the 180th day 
after the release of the Commission’s public notice of filing.” The Commission has not, of this writing, 
released its public notice of filing.   
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As explained above, the Maryland Public Service has not formally approved Verizon’s 

copper retirement plans or its current procedure.  Under Maryland law, Verizon still has a 

continuing duty to provide regulated voice telephone and neither the state legislature nor this 

Commission has formally declared otherwise. 

Contrary to the FCC’s strong emphasis on encouraging carriers like Verizon  

“to partner with state public service commissions, and other state and local entities to ensure 

consumers understand and are prepared for the transition,”68 Verizon partnered with no one in 

Maryland. Instead, it simply sent out its defective and contradictory notices, perhaps hoping no 

regulatory agency would notice, or protest.69 It could – and should – have chosen an easier path, 

and worked with state agencies on the timing and content of its notices.  It chose not to.  This 

business choice has left state agencies scrambling to explain to angry and confused consumers all 

the information that Verizon’s notices do not. 

V. CONCLUSION 
 

For the foregoing reasons, Maryland OPC requests that this Commission, at a minimum: 

• open an investigation into all of Verizon’s copper retirement notices; 

• immediately suspend Verizon’s December 2016 notices pending further investigation 

and review;  

• order that, going forward, Verizon amend all of its notices and informational 

materials distributed in Maryland to be consistent with, at a bare minimum, 47 

C.F.R. Section § 51.332(c)(2);  

                                                 
68 Copper Transition Order at ¶ 65. 
69 While the Copper Transition Order at ¶70 states that the FCC Enforcement Bureau will investigate 
potential carrier violations of the Copper Transition rules, it is of course silent as to what happens when, 
as in Maryland, the incumbent carrier issued notice to customers of an unauthorized action before the 
FCC even opened a docket. 
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• determine what additional notice requirements, if any, should be imposed to protect 

and educate Maryland customers who are suddenly facing this poorly executed 

retirement of a 100-year old legacy service; and 

• prior to any copper retirement, investigate the pending allegations that Verizon’s 

failure to maintain its copper network constitutes a  de facto retirement, requiring 

further deliberations by the FCC. 

 
Respectfully submitted,  

      Paula M. Carmody 
      People’s Counsel  
       
      Theresa V. Czarski 
      Deputy People’s Counsel  
 
      /electronic signature/ 
      Joyce R. Lombardi 
      Assistant People’s Counsel   
            
      Office of People's Counsel        
      6 St. Paul Street, Suite 2102        
      Baltimore, Maryland 21202  
      (410) 767-8150   
          
 

Dated:   October 28, 2016  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that, on this 28th day of October, 2016, the foregoing “Petition of 

the Office of People’s Counsel for an Investigation Into the Copper Retirement Notices Sent By 

Verizon, Maryland LLC to Maryland Retail Customers and Request for Immediate Suspension 

of Those Notices Pending an Investigation” was e‐mailed and/or mailed, postage prepaid via the 

U.S.P.S, to the individuals below.  

        
Suzan D. Paiva 
Assistant General Counsel 
Verizon 
1717 Arch Street, 3 East 
Philadelphia PA 19103 
Suzan D.Pavia@verizon.com 
 
Leslie M. Romine 
Staff Counsel 
Annette B. Garafolo 
Staff Attorney 
Public Service Commission of Maryland 
William Donald Schaefer Tower 
6 St. Paul Street, 17th floor 
Baltimore MD 21202 
Leslie.Romine@maryland.gov 
Annette.Garofalo@maryland.gov 
 
Vincent Trivelli 
Counsel for the Communications Workers of America 
The Law Office of Vincent Trivelli, PLLC 
178 Chancery Row 
Morgantown, West Virginia 26505 
vmtriv@Westco.net 
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
/electronic signature/ 
Joyce R. Lombardi     

 Assistant People’s Counsel 
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 Frederick E. Moacdieh  

Executive Director  
Federal Regulatory and Legal Affairs  

1300 I Street, NW, Suite 400 West  
Washington, DC 20005  

Phone 202.515.2590  
Fax 202.336.7922  

frederick.moacdieh@verizon.com  
 
September 15, 2016

Ms. Marlene H. Dortch 
Secretary
Federal Communications Commission
445 12th Street, SW
Washington, DC 20554 

Re: Verizon Public Notice of Network Change(s), CFR 47Sections51.325- 51.335
Copper Retirement ID No. 2016-03-A-MD 

Dear Ms. Dortch:

Pursuant to Sections 51.325 – 51.335 of the Commission’s rules, Verizon hereby submits the attached Public 
Notice of Copper Retirement under rule 51.332.  Specifically, Verizon is providing notification of the 
replacement of copper distribution and loop facilities with fiber-to-the-home facilities at some locations in 
the Bethesda, Columbia, Glen Burnie, Rockville, and Towson, MD wire centers.  Upon completion, Verizon 
will provide services available over its fiber optic network. 

The majority of customers served by copper at these locations purchase “plain old telephone 
service.”  Following the transition to fiber, Verizon will continue to offer these customers the same POTS 
service over fiber at the same or better price as they received on copper facilities. There will be no change in 
the underlying features and functionalities in their service: this is not a transition to IP-based service and 
Verizon will offer these customers the same regulated service they have today.   

There may be one or more obsolete, narrowband services (such as certain DS0 level services) that are 
incompatible with or unavailable over fiber.  If so, we will work closely with those customers to 
address their particular needs.

A copy of the attached notice was mailed to the Maryland Public Service Commission, Governor 
Larry Hogan, and the Department of Defense Chief Information Officer.  Verizon has not provided 
notification to tribal entities as no tribal entity will be impacted by this copper retirement.

Please contact me should you need any further information.

Sincerely,

cc:   Maryland Public Service Commission
 Governor Larry Hogan
 Department of Defense Chief Information Officer 
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On September 15, 2016 Verizon provided notice of copper retirement to the following: 

W. Kevin Hughes 
Chairman
Maryland Public Service Commission 
6 St. Paul Street
16th Floor 
Baltimore, MD 21202-6806 

The Honorable Larry Hogan
Office of the Governor
State House
100 State Circle
Annapolis, MD 21401-1925 

Department of Defense Chief Information Officer
Attn:  Military Asst./Mobility Team
The Pentagon 
Washington, DC 20301 
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6929 N. Lakewood Avenue
Tulsa, OK  74117 

PUBLIC NOTICE OF COPPER RETIREMENT UNDER RULE 51.332
Copper Retirement ID No. 2016-03-A-MD

September 15, 2016

Carrier:  Verizon Maryland LLC, 1 East Pratt Street, Baltimore, MD 21202

Contact: For additional information on these planned network changes, please contact:

Janet Gazlay Martin
Director – Network Transformation 
Verizon Communications 
230 W. 36th Street, Room 802 
New York, NY 10018  
1-844-881-4693 

Implementation Date: On or after September 15, 2017

Planned Network Change(s) will occur at the following wire center areas in Maryland:  
Wire Center Address CLLI

BETHESDA, MD 4533 Stanford St, Bethesda, MD 20815 CHCHMDBE
COLUMBIA, MD 5231 W Running Brook Rd, Columbia, MD 21044 CLMAMDCB

GLEN BURNIE, MD 215 Ritchie Lane, Glen Burnie, MD 21061 GLBRMDGL
ROCKVILLE, MD 490 Fleet St, Rockville, MD 20850 RKVLMDRV

TOWSON, MD 100 York Rd, Towson, MD 21204 TWSNMDTW
Attached Exhibit A lists the specific areas in which the copper network facilities will be retired.
Exhibit A may also be viewed at http://www.verizon.com/about/terms-conditions/network-disclosures

Description of the planned network change(s):
Verizon intends to retire a number of copper facilities in the Bethesda, Columbia, Glen Burnie, Rockville, 
and Towson, MD wire center serving locations listed in the attached Exhibit A and to provide services over a 
fiber network infrastructure.  Verizon has deployed its fiber-to-the-home network in the areas identified in 
Exhibit A.

Description of reasonably foreseeable impact(s) of the planned change(s):
After the retirement of the copper facilities, Verizon will: (1) no longer offer services over copper facilities; 
and (2) cease maintaining the copper facilities.  

Description of any changes in prices, terms or conditions that will accompany the planned change(s):
As a general matter, the retirement of copper facilities will not result in changes to rates, terms and 
conditions in cases where the affected service is converted to a like-for-like service that is available on fiber 
facilities. Interconnecting entities, however, should review the applicable tariff or agreement for certain 
terms that may apply specifically in cases where the service is provisioned on fiber. In cases where 
interconnecting entities elect to replace the affected service with an alternative service that Verizon offers on 
fiber facilities, the rates, terms and conditions will be as set forth in the tariff or agreement under which 
Verizon offers the replacement service that the interconnecting entity selects.  Verizon, separately from this 
notice, will provide interconnecting entities with further information regarding service migration options that 
Verizon offers. 
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